IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF FLORIDA, et al.,

Petitioners,	Case No.	SC13-949			
	DCA Case No.				
V.	L.T. Case Nos.				
THE FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, et al.,		37 2012 CA 00490			
Respondents.					
RENE ROMO, et al.,					
Petitioners,	Case No. DCA Case No.	SC13-951 1D12-5280			
v.	L.T. Case Nos.				
THE FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, et al.,					
Respondents.					
ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL					

PETITIONERS' INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Talbot D'Alemberte Fla. Bar No. 017529 D'ALEMBERTE & PALMER, PLLC Post Office Box 10029 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-2029 Telephone: (850) 325-6292

Adam M. Schachter

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Article III, section 20 of the Florida Constitution prohibits the Florida Legislature from drawing any congressional reapportionment plan or individual district "with the intent to favor or disfavor a political party or an incumbent." Art. III, § 20(a), Fla. Const. This case was filed because Petitioners believe the Legislature violated that provision when it enacted a new voting map for United States congressional elections (the "2012 Plan"). The case is now in this Court because the Legislature has sought to prevent Petitioners from discovering direct evidence of the Legislature's unlawful intent by invoking a legislative privilege.

Relying on a legislative privilege of its own creation, the First District Court of Appeal reversed an order of the circuit court that allowed Petitioners to seek limited discovery from the Legislature. The effect of the First District's decision was to bar all discovery from the Legislature on the issue of its intent in the redistricting process. Embracing the broadest possible view of the legislative privilege, the First District held that the privilege shields the Legislature from all discovery in this case, and that article III, section 20 does not "abrogate or limit the legislative privilege in any way." Petitioners' Appendix ("A") 013. The First District therefore barred Petitioners from seeking the most direct evidence regarding the most important issue in this case: the Legislature's intent in enacting

the 2012 Plan. Petitioners ask this Court to reverse that decision and allow them to seek the discovery to which they are entitled under article III, section 20.

* * *

In 2010, an overwhelming majority of Floridians voted to approve Amendment 6 to the Florida Constitution.¹ Now incorporated into the Florida Constitution as article III, section 20, that provision outlaws partisan gerrymandering in Florida. The Legislature is prohibited from drawing any congressional reapportionment plan or individual district "with the intent to favor or disfavor a political party or an incumbent." Art. III, § 20(a), Fla. Const.

Article III, section 20 dramatically altered the law of redistricting in Florida, a state long plagued by gerrymandering. *See In re Senate Joint Resolution of Legislative Apportionment 1176* ("*In re Apportionment Law—2012*"), 83 So. 3d 597, 601-04 (Fla. 2012) (recounting history). Article III, section 20 imposes "stringent new standards" on the Legislature. *Id.* at 597 (interpreting identical constitutional amendment governing legislative redistricting). Importantly, those standards are stricter than standards imposed by federal law. *See, e.g., id.* at 598-

^{1.} The voters approved two related amendments, known together as the "Fair District Amendments." Amendment 5 imposed restrictions on state legislative redistricting, and Amendment 6 imposed the same restrictions on congressional reapportionment. The underlying litigation concerns the Legislature's most recent congressional reapportionment plan, subject to Amendment 6. The parallel case challenging the Senate map is based on alleged violations of Amendment 5.

99 ("With the advent of the Fair Districts Amendment, the Florida Constitution now imposes more stringent requirements as to apportionment than the United States Constitution and prior versions of the state constitution."). "By virtue of these additional constitutional requirements, the parameters of the Legislature's responsibilities under the Florida Constitution, and therefore this Court's scope of review, have plainly increased, requiring a commensurately more expanded judicial analysis of legislative compliance." *Id.* at 607.

The leadership of the Florida Legislature actively opposed this reform from the beginning. For example, the leadership opposed this Court's approval of the ballot language for Amendments 5 and 6, see Adv. Op. to Att'y Gen. re Standards for Establishing Legislative Dist. Boundaries, 2 So. 3d 175, 184-91 (Fla. 2009), and supported financial impact language that this Court found misleading, see Adv. Op. to Att'y Gen. re Standards for Establishing Legislative Dist. Boundaries, 2 So. 3d 161, 162-66 (Fla. 2009). The Legislature also put forth a "poison pill" amendment that was intended to nullify the impact of Amendments 5 and 6. The Legislature's amendment was given a ballot title almost identical to the ballot titles for Amendments 5 and 6, and was to be offered as "Amendment 7" so it would confuse the voters. Ultimately, this Court removed Amendment 7 from the ballot as misleading. See Fla. Dep't of State v. Fla. State Conference of NAACP Branches, 43 So. 3d 662, 669 (Fla. 2010). In addition, before the 2010 elections,

the Legislature intervened in a repeat challenge to the validity of Amendments 5 and 6. This Court ordered that challenge dismissed as well. *See Roberts v. Brown*, 43 So. 3d 673, 684 (Fla. 2010).

After Amendment 6 was approved by Florida's voters, several elected officials (including the Florida House of Representatives, one of the respondents here) challenged the provision in federal court, arguing that it violated the Elections Clause of the United States Constitution. The United States Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit rejected that challenge, squarely holding that article III, section 20 "is entirely consistent with the Elections Clause, both as to its substance and its manner of enactment." Brown v. Sec'y of State, 668 F.3d 1271, 1285 (11th Cir. 2012). Undeterred, the Legislature filed answers in this case arguing that "Article III, Section 20 is inconsistent with, and violates, [the Elections Clause] of the United States Constitution"—in essence, inviting Florida's courts to ignore the Eleventh Circuit's decision in Brown. A039 (Legislative Defendants' Answer and Affirmative Defenses to Romo Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint).

This appeal concerns the Legislature's latest attempt to avoid the new standards imposed by article III, section 20: invoking the "legislative privilege" to bar Petitioners from obtaining evidence of unlawful intent directly from the Legislature and its agents.

In February 2012, the Florida Legislature enacted the 2012 Plan.

Notwithstanding the clear prohibitions of article III, section 20, the 2012 Plan is heavily biased in favor of Republican lawmakers and candidates. Thus, a group of Florida voters—including Rene Romo, Benjamin Weaver, William Everett Warinner, Jessica Barrett, June Keener, Richard Quinn Boylan, and Bonita Agan—filed an action in the Circuit Court of the Second Judicial Circuit in and for Leon County, Florida, alleging that the 2012 Plan was drawn "with the intent to favor or disfavor a political party or an incumbent" in violation of article III, section 20.

Another suit challenging the 2012 Plan was filed by the League of Women Voters of Florida, Common Cause, and others, which was soon consolidated with the other challengers' lawsuit. The Florida House of Representatives and the Florida Senate are named as defendants in the consolidated action.

To obtain evidence of the Legislature's intent, Petitioners served discovery requests seeking draft maps and supporting documents related to the 2012 Plan. Petitioners also noticed depositions for one state legislator and two legislative staffers. A043-047. The Legislature objected, arguing that the requests were barred in their entirety by the legislative privilege. The Legislature therefore sought a blanket protective order "declaring that (i) no legislators or legislative staff may be deposed, and (ii) unfiled legislative draft maps and supporting

documents are not discoverable." A049 (Legislative Defendants' Motion for Protective Order Based on Legislative Privilege).

The Legislature's request for a protective order relied heavily on *Florida House of Representatives v. Expedia, Inc.*, 85 So. 3d 517 (Fla. 1st DCA 2012). At the time, *Expedia* was the only Florida case expressly recognizing the legislative privilege under Florida law. According to *Expedia*, Florida law recognizes a *qualified* legislative privilege. Thus, a court assessing a claim of legislative privilege under Florida law "will always have to make a preliminary inquiry to determine . . . whether the need for privacy is outweighed by a more important governmental interest." *Id.* at 525.

Applying *Expedia*'s balancing test to the facts of this case, the circuit court concluded that the important governmental interest in enforcing article III, section 20 required "the legislative privilege [to] bend somewhat to allow inquiry into certain areas" regarding the 2012 Plan. A078. As the circuit court explained:

I find it difficult to imagine a more compelling, competing government interest than that represented by the plaintiffs' claim. It is based upon a specific constitutional direction to the Legislature, as to what it can and cannot do with respect to drafting legislative reapportionment plans. It seeks to protect the essential right of our citizens to have a fair opportunity to select those who will represent them. . . . Frankly, if the compelling government interest in this case does not justify some relaxing of the legislative privilege, then there's probably no other civil case which would.

A077-078. The circuit court therefore permitted Petitioners to proceed with the three noted depositions. At the same time, to protect "the legislative functions most in need of protection," the circuit court limited the scope of those depositions, allowing Petitioners to inquire into "routine transmittal communications between legislators, between legislators and their staff, and communications with outside consultants or constituents," but not "the subjective thought processes of legislators and the confidential communication between them and between legislators and their staff." A076, A077, A078. The circuit court described the former category as "objective" information regarding intent, and the latter category as "subjective" information regarding intent. A077.²

The circuit court held that the same distinction should apply to Petitioners' document requests. However, recognizing that access to public records "is a fundamental constitutional right in Florida" under article I, section 24(a) of the Florida Constitution and its implementing statutes, *Rhea v. Dist. Bd. of Trs. of Santa Fe Coll.*, 109 So. 3d 851, 855 (Fla. 1st DCA 2013), the circuit court ordered the Legislature to disclose "any documents that qualify as public records" under Florida's public records laws and "do not fall under a specific [statutory]

^{2.} The First District found the objective/subjective dichotomy "unworkable" and "nebulous." A008, A012. But that concern falls away if, as Petitioners argue here, there is no legislative privilege or if the privilege is abrogated by article III, section 20. In either case, the circuit court should permit discovery subject only to the limits set forth in Florida's rules of civil procedure.

exemption." A079. The circuit court then rejected the Legislature's "very broad interpretation" of the statutory exemption for draft reapportionment plans and "supporting documents," *see* § 11.0431(2)(e), Fla. Stat., and ordered the Legislature to produce nonexempt documents related to the 2012 Plan or submit them for in camera review. A079-80.

The Legislature filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the First District Court of Appeal. The First District granted the petition in a 2-1 decision.

In granting the Legislature's petition, the First District substantially expanded the legislative privilege that it had recognized for the first time in *Expedia*. Although the *Expedia* court had held that the privilege would always be subject to "a preliminary inquiry to determine whether . . . the need for [legislative] privacy is outweighed by a more important governmental interest," 85 So. 3d at 525, here the First District held that the privilege always applies, except in rare cases implicating "interests outside of the legislative process and unrelated to the importance of the legislation at issue, such as criminal investigations and prosecutions." A013. The First District further held that article III, section 20 does not "abrogate or limit the legislative privilege in any way." *Id*. The First District therefore quashed the circuit court's order to the extent that the order allowed Petitioners to seek discovery from "legislators and legislative staff

members on any matter pertaining to their activities in the reapportionment process." A012.

Turning to the issue of Florida's public records laws and their effect on Petitioners' document requests, the First District agreed with the circuit court that only certain categories of legislative records are exempt from inspection, and that records covered by the legislative privilege are not among them. Thus, to the extent Petitioners sought "public records" from the Legislature, the Legislature was obligated to produce those records unless it could show that the records both fell within the exemption for certain draft maps and related materials in § 11.0431(2)(e) *and* were covered by the legislative privilege. A021-024.

Chief Judge Benton dissented. He disagreed with the majority's view that the legislative privilege applies absolutely in suits to enforce article III, section 20, and emphasized that "Legislators should not, and until today did not, enjoy any blanket immunity from discovery, by virtue of their status as Legislators." A032. Chief Judge Benton also recognized that article III, section 20 "makes plain that how and why the Legislature redistricts is a matter of paramount public concern," A030; that the majority's broad interpretation of the privilege would enable the Legislature to conceal "political shenanigans" which the voters of Florida had declared illegal, *id.*; and that allowing the Legislature to choose which evidence of its intent to reveal or conceal "would render the Court's review of the new

constitutional standards, and whether the Legislature complied with the new standards, essentially meaningless," A031 (quoting *In re Apportionment Law—2012*, 83 So. 3d at 609).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The First District's decision effectively sanctions partisan machinations in redistricting so long as they remain hidden from public view, and it provides no mechanism for examining the internal workings of the Legislature's redistricting process. If allowed to stand, the First District's decision would allow—indeed, encourage—partisan gerrymandering to fester behind closed doors, thereby thwarting the will of the voters who overwhelmingly approved article III, section 20. This Court must not let that happen.

The First District's decision should be reversed on several grounds. As an initial matter, the First District assumed that Florida recognizes the legislative privilege. But this Court has never recognized that privilege, and for good reason: it has no basis in Florida law.

Even if the First District was right to hold that the legislative privilege exists, it was wrong to hold that article III, section 20 does not "abrogate or limit the legislative privilege in any way." A013. Nothing in Florida law supports that sweeping proposition. Moreover, eliminating partisan gerrymandering—the express purpose of article III, section 20—requires exposing partisan

gerrymandering, which in turn requires meaningful discovery. Thus, if the legislative privilege exists in Florida, then article III, section 20 must be construed to abrogate that privilege because "[c]onstitutional provisions must never be construed in such a manner as to make it possible for the will of the people to be frustrated or denied." *In re Apportionment Law—2012*, 83 So. 3d at 631 (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The First District offered no persuasive reason for its contrary conclusion.

Finally, the circuit court's order did not depart from the essential requirements of the law—a necessary prerequisite for granting certiorari relief.

The First District therefore erred in granting the petition.

ARGUMENT

I. No Legislative Privilege Exists In Florida

Relying on *Expedia*, the First District held that Florida law recognizes a legislative privilege based on "the common law and the separation of powers provision of the Florida Constitution." A010. *Expedia* erred in announcing that rule of law, and the First District erred in following it here.

The Evidence Code strictly limits privileges in Florida. Under section 90.501, Florida Statutes, "no person in a legal proceeding has a privilege" to refuse to provide testimony or produce documents "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by this chapter, any other statute, or the Constitution of the United States or of the State of

Florida." Thus, Florida courts will not recognize a privilege unless it is set forth in a statute or a constitutional provision. *See*, *e.g.*, *Marshall v. Anderson*, 459 So. 2d 384, 387 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984) (refusing to recognize an "academic privilege"); *Coralluzzo v. Fass*, 450 So. 2d 858, 859 (Fla. 1984) (refusing to recognize physician-patient privilege in absence of specific statutory provision); *Hope v. State*, 449 So. 2d 1319, 1320 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (refusing to recognize a sonfather testimonial privilege because "the legislature has not created a son-father privilege").

Notably, Florida's reluctance to create new privileges is consistent with federal law, which recognizes that privileges "must be strictly construed and accepted only to the very limited extent that permitting a refusal to testify . . . has a public good transcending the normally predominant principle of utilizing all rational means for ascertaining truth." *Trammel v. United States*, 445 U.S. 40, 50 (1980) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, privileges "are not lightly created nor expansively construed," *United States v. Nixon*, 418 U.S. 683, 710 (1974), and federal courts evaluating a novel claim of privilege "start with the primary assumption that there is a general duty to give what testimony one is capable of giving." *Jaffee v. Redmond*, 518 U.S. 1, 9 (1996) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

Here, there is no specific statute or constitutional provision creating a legislative privilege. That should be the end of the matter. *See Marshall*, 459 So. 2d at 386-387 ("Since neither of the grounds [for recognizing a privilege] exclusively permitted under section 90.501 thus exists, the testimonial privilege enforced below may not, as a matter of law and under any circumstances, be recognized in our state."); *see also City of Pompano Beach v. Swerdlow Lightspeed Mgmt. Co., LLC*, 942 So. 2d 455, 457 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (expressing skepticism about the privilege because "[n]o Florida legislative testimonial privilege has been recognized in the Evidence Code, statutes, or Florida constitution"); *Girardeau v. State*, 403 So. 2d 513, 514-16 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (same); *Fla. Ass'n of Rehab. Facilities, Inc. v. Fla. Dep't of Health & Rehabilitative Servs.*, 164 F.R.D. 257, 265-68 (N.D. Fla. 1995) (same).

Instead, following *Expedia*, the First District sought to ground the legislative privilege in Florida's common law. That was error. The *Expedia* court reasoned that the privilege arises from common law; that § 2.01, Florida Statutes, adopts the common law to the extent "not inconsistent with . . . the acts of the Legislature of this state"; that there was "no law abrogating the common law on this point"; and thus that the privilege exists in Florida. *Expedia*, 85 So. 3d at 523-24. But in fact, there *is* a specific law "abrogating the common law" of privileges in Florida. Section 90.051, Florida Statutes, expressly declares that no privileges exist

"[e]xcept as . . . provided by this chapter, any other statute, or the Constitution of the United States or of the State of Florida." And as the Third District has observed, it is "obvious" that the plain language of section 90.051 "abolishes all common-law privileges existing in Florida and makes the creation of privileges dependent upon legislative action or pursuant to the Supreme Court's rule-making power." Marshall, 459 So. 2d at 386-387 (quoting Law Revision Council Note) (emphasis added). It follows that the legislative privilege cannot emanate from the common law of Florida.³

Like the *Expedia* court, the court below also sought to ground the privilege in the Florida Constitution, particularly the general separation-of-powers provision. That theory fares no better. The general language of that provision does not even hint at the notion of a legislative privilege—let alone the unqualified and unyielding privilege contemplated by the First District here. *See* Art. II, § 3, Fla. Const. ("The powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches. No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein."). And the mere existence of a separation-of-powers provision does not

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