IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS. SC13-949, SC13-951

THE LEAGUE OF WOMEN VOTERS OF FLORIDA, et al.,	
Petitioners,	
vs.	
THE FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, <i>et al.</i> , Respondents.	L.T. Case Nos.: 1D12-5280, 37 2012 CA 00412, 37 2012 CA 00490
RENE ROMO, et al.,	
Petitioners,	
vs.	
THE FLORIDA HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, et al.,	
Respondents.	/
	IEW OF A DECISION OF THE L OF FLORIDA, FIRST DISTRICT
LEGISLATIVE PART	ΓIES' ANSWER BRIEF

Raoul G. Cantero

Florida Bar No. 552356

Jason N. Zakia

Florida Bar No. 698121

Jesse L. Green

Florida Bar No. 95591

White & Case LLP

200 S. Biscayne Blvd., Suite 4900

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The principle that a legislator cannot be forced to testify under oath about the legislative process is so well-settled that it predates the founding of the Republic. This principle was enshrined in English common law when our nation was founded, and it has endured to this day. No court in the history of the United States has required a state legislator to be deposed about the legislative process.

The First DCA, following its decision in *Expedia*, correctly held that the legislative privilege protected legislators and their staff from being deposed in this case.

Petitioners claim that section 90.501, Florida Statutes, abrogates the legislative privilege in Florida. But that section, by its own terms, recognizes privileges arising from the Florida Constitution and Florida Statutes. Here, as the First DCA found, the legislative privilege derives from Florida's strict separation-of-powers clause and from section 2.01, Florida Statutes, which codifies the common law of England. Moreover, section 90.501 did not abrogate the immunities afforded to the coordinate branches of government. Florida courts continue to recognize the privileges and immunities afforded to the legislative, judicial and executive branches even when they are not expressly codified.

This Court has recognized that Amendment Six had no effect on judicial functions; it merely added substantive criteria to be applied in drawing reapportionment plans. Petitioners also incorrectly assert that the legislative privilege must yield in light of the importance of article III, section 20. Finally, the First DCA did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the circuit court misapplied the binding precedent set forth in *Expedia*.

ARGUMENT

It is black letter law that a legislator has a privilege against submitting to compelled testimony about the legislative process. See, e.g., Florida v. United

States, 886 F. Supp. 2d 1301, 1302 (N.D. Fla. 2012) (denying, in Voting Rights Act preclearance litigation, a motion to compel depositions of legislators and legislative staff members on the basis of legislative privilege) (Hinkle, J.); Dittmer v. Cnty. of Suffolk, 188 F. Supp. 2d 286, 291 (E.D.N.Y. 2002) (noting an order quashing deposition subpoenas of state legislators); Mosby v. Texas, 2004 WL 177549, at *2 (Tex. App. Ct. Jan. 29, 2004) (rejecting an argument that the trial court erred by quashing deposition subpoenas of state legislators); Melvin v. Doe, 2000 WL 33252882 (Pa. Ct. Comm. Pl. May 23, 2000) (quashing a deposition subpoena of a state senator on separation-of-powers grounds); State v. Town of Lyndhurst, 650 A.2d 840, 845 (N.J. Super. Ct. 1994) (quashing deposition subpoenas of state legislators); Kerttula v. Abood, 686 P.2d 1197, 1205 (Alaska 1984) (quashing a deposition subpoena of state senator because of legislative privilege); Holmes v. Farmer, 475 A.2d 976, 984 (R.I. 1984) (excluding the testimony of state legislators based on legislative privilege); Bishop v. Montante, 237 N.W.2d 465, 468 (Mich. 1976) (quashing a deposition subpoena of a state legislator because of constitutional privilege).

Indeed, no court anywhere has required a state legislator to be deposed about individual intentions or motivations behind enacted legislation. The First DCA, following its decision in *Expedia*, held that the legislative privilege protected legislators and their staff from being deposed in this case. This Court should

approve that decision because (I) the First DCA correctly recognized that the legislative privilege exists under Florida law; (II) it correctly held that article III, section 20 of the Florida Constitution does not abrogate the privilege; (III) it correctly determined that the privilege should not yield under the circumstances of this case; and (IV) it did not abuse its discretion in concluding that the Legislative Parties satisfied the criteria for certiorari relief.

I. THE FIRST DCA CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE LEGISLATIVE PRIVILEGE EXISTS IN FLORIDA

Petitioners first argue (br. at 11-16) that the First DCA erred in holding that Florida law recognizes a legislative privilege. They claim that, because the privilege is not expressly codified in a statute or the Florida Constitution, it cannot exist. But as we explain below, (A) the privilege is implicit in the Florida Constitution's separation-of-powers clause; (B) the privilege was part of English common law on July 4, 1776 and therefore was codified in section 2.01; (C) the absence of a speech-or-debate clause does not preclude the privilege; and (D) section 90.501 did not abrogate the privileges and immunities of the coordinate branches of government.

A. The Legislative Privilege is Implicit in the Florida Constitution's Separation-of-Powers Clause

Petitioners first argue that no legislative privilege exists in Florida because under section 90.501, Florida Statutes, "no person in a legal proceeding has a

privilege" to refuse to be a witness or to produce documents "[e]xcept as otherwise provided by this chapter, any other statute, or the Constitution of the United States or of the State of Florida" (br. at 11-12). Petitioners then assert that "there is no specific statute or constitutional provision creating a legislative privilege" (br. at 13). This argument ignores the clear language of the statute on which it rests. As the First DCA correctly held, the legislative privilege arises from the Florida Constitution's strict separation-of-powers provision (A. 10).

Article II, section 3 of the Florida Constitution provides that "[t]he powers of the state government shall be divided into legislative, executive and judicial branches" and that "[n]o person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein." Petitioners attempt to minimize the significance of this provision, arguing that it has "limited power and scope" (br. at 20). To the contrary, as the First DCA emphasized in *Expedia*, the "importance of [article II, section 3] cannot be overstated," and this Court has traditionally applied a strict separation of powers, which it has described as the "cornerstone of American democracy." 85 So. 3d at 524 (quoting *Bush v. Schiavo*, 885 So. 2d 321, 329 (Fla. 2004)).

"Strict enforcement" of the separation of powers "is necessary in part to ensure that one branch of government does not encroach on powers vested exclusively in another." *Id.* The Legislature should not compel judges to testify

about the reasons for their decisions, their thought processes in chambers, or even the objective mechanics of rendering their opinions. *Id.* at 522-23. The legislative branch is entitled to this same protection: "The power vested in the Legislature under the Florida Constitution would be severely compromised if legislators were required to appear in court to explain why they voted a particular way or to describe their process of gathering information on a bill." *Id.* at 524; *see also Florida v. United States*, 886 F. Supp. 2d at 1303 ("Legislators ought not call unwilling judges to testify at legislative hearings about the reasons for specific judicial decisions, and courts ought not compel unwilling legislators to testify about the reasons for specific legislative votes.") (Hinkle, J.).

Petitioners nonetheless argue that "the mere existence of a separation-of-powers provision does not necessarily imply a legislative privilege" (br. at 14-15). But the privilege promotes the separation of powers by protecting the integrity of the legislative process from encroachment by the other branches. Like the independence of the judiciary, which enables courts to render decisions freely and without coercion, the legislative privilege enables elected legislators to perform their duties with independence, according to their own convictions and consciences, free from intimidation, harassment, or fear of personal consequences. While Petitioners dismiss such concerns as "wholly speculative" (br. at 18), courts have steered a more prudent course. *See Tenney v. Brandhove*, 341 U.S. 367, 377

(1951) ("Legislators are immune from deterrents to the uninhibited discharge of their legislative duty, not for their private indulgence but for the public good. One must not expect uncommon courage even in legislators.") (Frankfurter, J.). Indeed, the threat to the integrity of the legislative process is far greater here than it was in Expedia: this case involves a core legislative function directly and expressly committed to the Florida Legislature under the United States Constitution. See Florida v. United States, 886 F. Supp. 2d at 1302 ("Florida state legislators have a privilege not to testify on matters at the core of their legislative functions.") (Hinkle, J.). To deny the privilege here would create a "chilling effect" by compelling legislators to testify about matters within their official functions. As the First DCA said, "the privilege guarantees the Legislature's independent judgment precisely when it is exposed most to external pressures—in the case of important legislation" (A. 16).

In the absence of a legislative privilege, Petitioners would be in a prime position to apply undue pressure to legislators if the Legislature were called upon to adopt a remedial redistricting plan. Under the threat of hostile depositions, few legislators will be found willing to serve on redistricting committees, while others, to escape reprisals and intimidation in subsequent litigation, would naturally be too ready to accede to Petitioners' demands, all to the detriment of the public good.

To support their argument that the separation of powers does not mandate a legislative privilege, Petitioners cite Girardeau v. State, 403 So. 2d 513 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981) (br. at 15). But rather than "expressing skepticism about the privilege" (br. at 13), Girardeau strongly suggested its existence. Although requiring a legislator who had received possible evidence of a crime to testify before a grand jury, the court noted that "[t]here is every reason to believe that all due deference will and should be extended by the judicial branch to any properly asserted legislative claim of privilege, and it is imperative that it be kept in mind that such claims of privilege are supported by substantial authority." Id. at 516.2 See also Expedia, 85 So. 3d at 524 ("We suggested in Girardeau that the separation of powers provision in Article II, section 3 would support a claim of legislative privilege."). And Girardeau is consistent with the decision below, which recognized that the privilege might yield to "interests outside of the legislative process . . . , such as criminal investigations and prosecutions" (A. 13).

For these reasons, the legislative privilege follows from the separation-ofpowers provision in the Florida Constitution.

² Petitioners also cite *City of Pompano Beach v. Swerdlow Lightspeed Management Co.*, 942 So. 2d 455 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (br. at 15), which rehashed the issues addressed in *Girardeau* but concluded that the privilege issue was not properly before the court. *Id.* at 457. *See also Fla. Assoc. of Rehab. Facilities v. Fla. Dept. of Health & Rehab. Serv.*, 164 F.R.D 257, 261 (N.D. Fla. 1995) (examining *Girardeau* but ultimately finding that the privilege asserted was "a matter of federal law").

B. The Legislative Privilege Existed at Common Law, as Codified by Section 2.01, and Section 90.501 Did Not Abrogate it

The legislative privilege was also enshrined in the common law of England long before the founding of the United States. As far back as 1689, the English Bill of Rights declared "[t]hat the Freedom of Speech, and Debates or Proceedings in Parliament, ought not to be impeached or questioned in any Court or Place out of Parliament." *Tenney*, 341 U.S. at 372 (citations omitted).

This common law of legislative privilege was codified in section 2.01, Florida Statutes, providing that "[t]he common law and statute laws of England . . . down to the 4th day of July, 1776, are declared to be of force in this state; provided, [that they] be not inconsistent with the Constitution and laws of the United States and the acts of the Legislature of this state." § 2.01, Fla. Stat. (2012). "It follows from this language that if legislative immunity existed under the common law of England, it continues to exist in Florida." *Expedia*, 85 So. 3d at 523.

In apparent recognition that their argument flies in the face of section 2.01, Petitioners argue—for the first time in this case—that section 90.501, Florida Statutes, which expressly retains all privileges that exist "as . . . provided by this chapter, any other statute, or the Constitution of the United States or of the State of Florida," somehow abrogated the common law legislative privilege. They cite *Marshall v. Anderson*, 459 So. 2d 384 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984), for the proposition that

section 90.501 abolished "all common-law privileges existing in Florida." Petitioners ignore the fact that the academic testimonial privilege at issue in *Marshall* was not part of the English common law at the founding of our Republic, and therefore was not codified by section 2.01. Unlike the academic testimonial privilege, the common law legislative privilege is now a statutory privilege.

None of the other cases Petitioners cite (br. at 12) involved a privilege rooted in either the common law as of 1776 or the Florida Constitution's separation-of-powers provision. *See Hope v. State*, 449 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984) (rejecting a "son-father privilege" without any basis in statute, constitutional provision, or English common law); *Coralluzzo v. Fass*, 450 So. 2d 858 (Fla. 1984) (addressing the propriety of a defendant's ex parte communications with the plaintiff's health care providers).³

Moreover, a former legislature would not have the authority to abrogate the constitutionally grounded privileges of current legislators, as one legislature cannot statutorily deprive future legislators of privileges grounded in the separation of

³ Petitioners cite federal cases describing the reluctance of courts to create new privileges (br. at 12). But the legislative privilege is not new; federal courts have long recognized it, *see Gravel v. United States*, 408 U.S. 606 (1972), and one court recently applied it to Florida legislators in a voting-rights case. *Florida v. United States*, 886 F. Supp. 2d at 1302 ("Florida state legislators have a privilege not to testify on matters at the core of their legislative functions.") (Hinkle, J.).

powers. *See Neu v. Miami Herald Publ'g Co.*, 462 So. 2d 821, 824 (Fla. 1985) (upholding the maxim that one legislature cannot bind a future legislature).

Finally, Petitioners argue (br. at 14 n.3) that section 90.501 abrogated the common law because a specific statute controls over a general one. Again, Petitioners ignore the words of section 90.501. A specific statute controls over a general only when the two statutes hopelessly conflict. *See*, *e.g.*, *Knowles v*. *Beverly Enters.-Fla.*, *Inc.*, 898 So. 2d 1, 9 (Fla. 2004). Here, the plain language of section 90.501 clearly avoids any such conflict, as it expressly exempts from its scope privileges codified under other Florida statutes.

C. The Absence of a Speech-or-Debate Clause in the Florida Constitution Does Not Preclude the Legislative Privilege

Despite the clear relationship between the separation of powers and the legislative privilege, Petitioners assert that the Court should not infer a legislative privilege from the separation-of-powers provision because the privilege "is typically rooted in a constitutional speech-and-debate clause" (br. at 15). They argue that no legislative privilege exists because Florida is one of two states that lacks a speech-or-debate clause or a constitutional provision exempting legislators from arrest during a legislative session (br. at 15-16).

The lack of a speech-or-debate clause is irrelevant. Courts have grounded the legislative privilege on the separation-of-powers doctrine. *See Miller v. Transam. Press, Inc.*, 709 F.2d 524, 528 (9th Cir. 1983) ("The privilege is rooted")

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